IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEFFERSON REALTY OF FORT)						
LAUDERDALE, INC., a Florida)						
corporation; JEFFERSON REALTY)						
OF SOUTH DADE, INC., a Florida	<u>}</u>						
corporation; JEFFERSON FUNLAND,)						
INC., a Florida corporation;)						
and JEFFERSON STORES, INC., a)						
Dealware corporation authorized)						
to do business in the State of)	NO.					
Florida,)						
)						
Petitioners,)						
)						
vs.)						
)						
UNITED STATES RUBBER COMPANY,)						
a New Jersey corporation,)						
•)						
Respondent.)						
)						
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	* * * *	* * *	* * *	* * 1	* *	T T

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

WHETHER OR NOT IT WAS PROPER FOR THE DISTRICT COURT TO REVERSE THE LOWER COURT'S POST TRIAL ORDER WHEN THE VALIDITY OF SAID ORDER WAS NEVER ARGUED BY APPELLANT IN ITS BRIEF.

Since the conflict with existing Florida law on this point is not readily apparent from a cursory glance at the Opinion herein of the Honorable District Court of Appeal, Third District, it is incumbent upon Petitioners to demonstrate a conflict not readily apparent by bringing before this Honorable Court additional portions of the Record herein so that Petitioners' right to Certiorari may be demonstrated by consideration of both:

- A. The Opinion of the District Court of Appeal,
 Third District;
- and B. Those additional portions of the Record required to demonstrate a conflict not readily apparent by Item A. above, standing alone.

An examination of the Appellate Rules demonstrates the validity of the above procedure. For example, Rule 7.2(i.2) provides for

the following:

"The decisions of the courts that are alleged to conflict with each other, where that provision is invoked. This may be by reference to the citation of said decisions where they have been reported in official records. In those instances when the alleged conflict is not apparent from the decisions, then so much of the record as shall be essential to demonstrate such conflict may be brought up with the petition for certiorari. The Court may, after granting the writ and setting the case for oral argument, order brought up such further portions of the record as it may deem necessary." Appellate Rule 7.2(i.2) (emphasis supplied).

The most pertinent portion of the Record herein that the Petitioners have submitted, in addition to the decision of the District Court of Appeal, is an Order of the Trial Judge which can be found at Page 349 of the Record herein.

(See also Exhibit A. of Petition for Certiorari).

In short, simple language, this Order by the Judge who presided at trial held that JEFFERSON STORES, INC. (JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION) was the real party in interest and this was the reason that the Circuit Judge added JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION as party plaintiff during the course of the trial (R 349).

When the Honorable District Court of Appeal, Third District, reversed the Trial Judge, it obviously held that ... "permitting the entry of JEFFERSON STORES (JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION) into the case on the last day of testimony" and "... permitting it to go to the jury as a party plaintiff" was error (Page 2 of Opinion).

Inherent in the above holding is one of the following two alternatives that, of necessity, were part and parcel
of the decision as the Record clearly reveals:

- The District Court was reversing Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest.
- 2. The District Court was upholding Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest but still felt it was error to add JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION as a party plaintiff during the course of trial.

This portion of our Brief is only concerned with the first alternative above, to-wit:

The District Court was reversing Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest.

Assuming the above alternative, the District Court,

Third District was in complete conflict with Florida law wherein the Supreme Court of Florida annunciated the following basic

principle:

"The new Rule of this Court in Rule 36(9), 30 F.S.A., has re-stated a well established rule of law of appellate review as follows: 'Such assignments of error as are not argued in the briefs will be deemed abandoned * * *. * The assignment of errors constitute the basis for reversal and appellant's brief serves the purpose of pointing out specific errors or points within the scope of some specific assignment of error. Except for fundamental errors, an appellate Court will not reverse except for some well founded assignment of error that has been argued in the brief, and no point made in the brief will be considered unless it is found to be within the scope of an assignment of error." Redditt vs State, Fla. 1955, 84 so 2d 317, 320.-

This error of the District Court of Appeal, Third

District, in complete conflict with the Supreme Court of Florida,

is clearly revealed by the undisputed record in this cause which

demonstrates first that the Trial Judge adjudicated in an Order that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest and, accordingly, it was proper to add JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION as party plaintiff (R 349).

The record goes on to reveal that in regard to the Trial Judge's Order re real party in interest, the Appellant, U. S. RUBBER, raised two Assignments of Error, as follows:

"33. The court erred in denying defendant's Motion for Entry of Final Judgment by Order entered November 7, 1966.

34. The court erred in making Findings and conclusions in its Order denying defendant's Motion for Entry of Final Judgment entered November 7, 1966."

At no time did U. S. RUBBER, the Appellant, argue said Assignments of Error in its Brief as demonstrated by the following set forth in its Brief:

"POINT ONE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S AND DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE OF LIABILITY, THEREBY ADJUDICATING THE EXISTENCE OF A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES, DESPITE THE NON-PERFORMANCE OF AN EXPRESS CONDITION PRECEDENT BY THE PLAINTIFFS.

(Raised by Assignment of Error No. 1, 2, 3)

POINT TWO

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE JOINDER OF A NEW PARTY PLAINTIFF AFTER ALL ORIGINAL PARTIES HAD RESTED THEIR RESPECTIVE CASES DURING THE TRIAL OF THE CAUSE.

(Raised by <u>Assignment of Error No. 10, 11, 17, 18, 19, 30, 32, 35)</u>.

POINT THREE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE JURY TO CONSIDER AND RETURN A VERDICT FOR DAMAGES PREDICATED ON INCOME AND SALES TO BE DERIVED FROM BUSINESS WHOLLY IN CONTEMPLATION AND PROSPECT AND WITHOUT ANY EVIDENCE OF FAIR RENTAL VALUE.

(Raised by <u>Assignment of Error No. 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 12, 13, 15, 16, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32)</u> (emphasis supplied)

When the Opinion of the Honorable District Court of Appeal, Third District, in this cause was submitted, it became blatantly apparent that the District Court of Appeal was setting aside the Post Trial Order of the Honorable Circuit Judge without any argument as to the validity of this Post Trial Order being submitted in the Briefs whatsoever.

In response to this apparent inequity, your Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing before the District Court of Appeal, Third District, wherein they stated the following which was undisputed:

- "3. The finding of liability of U. S. RUBBER to JEFFERSON STORES was reversed, but this Court's Opinion forecloses a determination of that issue on remand.
 - a. The aforesaid post-trial order shows a finding based upon evidence at trial that the Realty Corporations and JEFFERSON STORES were one and the same, and that Appellant was liable to JEFFERSON STORES for all damages under the leases.
 - b. Appellant assigned as error, but did not argue, the entry of said Order (Assignment of Errors 33 and 34).
 - c. This Court in effect reversed that order on a holding that the initial ruling at trial was made 'without any hearing' (Opinion, page 3).
 - d. By failing to provide for a determination of Appellant's liability to JEFFERSON STORES for all elements of damage on remand, this Court has, without any hearing, found that Appellant is not liable to JEFFERSON STORES."

(Page 2 of Petition for Rehearing).

Needless to say, the District Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Rehearing, thereby demonstrating that if the

District Court of Appeal followed Alternative No. 1, to-wit:

"The District Court was reversing Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest.",

then said District Court of Appeal was in direct conflict with the Supreme Court of Florida, to-wit:

> "The new Rule of this Court in Rule 36(9), 30 F.S.A., has re-stated a well established rule of law of appellate review as follows: 'Such assignments of error as are not argued in the briefs will be deemed abandoned * * *.' The assignment of errors constitute the basis for reversal and appellant's brief serves the purpose of pointing out specific errors or points within the scope of some specific assignment of error. Except for fundamental errors, an appellate court will not reverse except for some well founded assignment of error that has been argued in the brief, and no point made in the brief will be considered unless it is found to be within the scope of an assignment of error." Redditt vs State, Fla. 1955, 84 So 2d 317, 320.

ARGUMENT

POINT 2.

WHETHER OR NOT IT WAS PROPER TO ADD JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION AS A PARTY PLAINTIFF DURING THE COURSE OF TRIAL.

Point 1. of this Brief sets forth two alternatives inherent in the District Court of Appeal's decision, to-wit:

- The District Court was reversing Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest.
 - 2. The District Court was upholding Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest but still felt it was error to add JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION as a party plaintiff during the course of trial.

Point 1. further disposes of the first alternative demonstrating wherein opposition to the Trial Judge's adjudication of JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION as real party in interest was abandoned by U. S. RUBBER. This leaves us with the remaining alternative, to-wit:

The District Court was upholding Judge Vann's adjudication that JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION was the real party in interest but still felt it was error to add JEFFERSON PARENT CORPORATION as a party plaintiff during the course of trial.

Even if the District Court of Appeal, Third District, followed this latter alternative, it would run afoul of and be in complete conflict with the following decisions of the Supreme Court of Florida re real party in interest:

"The purpose of the statutory provision that 'any civil action at law may be maintained in the name of the real party in interest' is to relax the strict rules of the common law so as to enable those directly interested in, but not parties to, a contract, to maintain an action for its breach; and the statute should be so applied as to accomplish its salutary purpose." First National Bank vs Perkins, 81 Fla. 341, 87 So 912.

"The statute law of this state recognizes the principle as applicable to civil actions at law providing that the real party in interest may at all times be substituted for the person who brings the action for the use of another." McCord vs Lee, 127 Fla. 65, 172 So 853 (emphasis supplied).

Furthermore, an additional <u>direct</u> conflict exists with the Supreme Court of Florida on the concept of <u>alter ego</u>:

"As to the first contention we find no support whatever. It is quite true that under the law a corporation cannot be licensed to practice architecture, but Robert L. Weed, Architect, Inc., was nothing more than the alter ego of Robert L. Weed or a medium through which his

business as an architect was transacted. The bill of complaint alleges that Robert L. Weed was at all times a licensed architect, that as such he performed the services in question and that the contract was executed by Robert L. Weed, Architect, Inc., for the benefit of Robert L. Weed. Throughout the entire transaction both parties recognized Robert L. Weed as the main party in interest, and that Robert L. Weed, Architect, Inc. was nothing more than a nominal party to the transaction." Robert L. Weed, Architect, Inc. vs Horning, Fla. 1947, 33 So 2d 648.

The similarity of the language cited above in the Robert L.

Weed case with that of the Trial Judge in our case is so strikingly similar that it justifies repetition since it is blatantly apparent that Judge Vann was relying on the Robert L. Weed case:

Judge Vann held:

"Throughout this entire transaction, all parties concerned recognized that JEFFERSON STORES, INC. was the main party in interest with the original plaintiffs, JEFFERSON REALTY OF FORT LAUDERDALE, INC., JEFFERSON REALTY OF SOUTH DADE, INC., and JEFFERSON FUNLAND, INC., being nothing more than nominal parties to the transaction."

(R 349)

In the Robert L. Weed case, the Supreme Court of Florida held:

"Throughout the entire transaction both parties recognized Robert L. Weed as the main party in interest, and that Robert L. Weed, Architect, Inc. was nothing more than a nominal party to the transaction." Robert L. Weed, Architect, Inc. vs Horning, Fla. 1947, 33 So 2d 648.

The Florida law on this point is so clear that even the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth District, interpreting Florida law, held:

"Under circumstances, individual shareholder could sue on agreement executed by corporation wherein interest of corporation and shareholder was identical and corporation was alter ego of individual." Fontainbleau Hotel Corp. vs Crossman (C.A. 5th Cir. 1963) 323 F 2d 937.

Last, but not least, even the Honorable District Court of Appeal, Third District, finds itself in conflict with itself:

"In the light of the authorities cited we hold that two alternatives are prsented where there is a transfer of the cause of action pending suit. The action may be continued in the name of the original party, or the court may upon application allow substition for the transferee." Miami Airlines vs Webb, Fla. 1959, 114 So 2d 361.

Finally, this Honorable Court is asked to examine the Rules of Civil Procedure it has promulgated. Under Rule 1.17(a) (New Rule 1.210(a)) of the Rules of Civil Procedure the Trial Judge has the discretion to add parties prior to a final determination of a cause. Cf., Bonded Rental Agency, Inc. vs City of Miami, Fla. App. 3rd Dist. 1966, 192 So 2d 305.

Rule 1.18 (New Rule 1.250) specifically provides that parties may be added "at any stage of the action". The purpose of these Rules is to allow a liberal joinder of parties.

Miracle House Corp. vs Haige, Fla. 1957, 96 So 2d 417, 418.

The corresponding Federal Rule (Rule 21) has been used to add a party pending appeal, where to grant the motion merely put the principal, the real party in interest, in the position of his agent. See Mullaney vs Anderson, 342 U.S. 415, 96 L. Ed. 2d 458, 72 S. Ct. 428.

POINT 3.

THIS COURT'S RULE ON THE MEASURE OF RENTAL DAMAGES WAS NOT FOLLOWED BY THE DISTRICT COURT.

In Moses v. Autuono, 56 Fla. 499, 47 So. 925 (1908), this Court held that the measure of damages, when a tenant sues the landlord for a breach of their contract, is the "difference between the stipulated rent and the value of the use of the premises". A tenant can recover damages even though the market value of the leasehold is less than the rent he is required to pay. Young v. Cobb, Fla. 1955, 83 So. 2d 417.

The District Court's opinion in this case is in direct conflict with the foregoing cases because the District Court held that the measure of damages was the difference between the rent reserved and rental value, and that petitioners could not recover damages where the use value was zero.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that a serious conflict with prior decisions of the Supreme Court of Florida lies in this cause. The similarity of the language of the Trial Judge with that of the Supreme Court on prior occasions indicates that the Trial Judge followed this precedent of the Supreme Court. The District Court of Appeal, Third District, departed from this precedent.