37.305

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO.____

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE RECORD IS INADEQUATE TO DEMONSTRATE CONFLICT CERTIORARI JURISDICTION.

Article V, Section 4(2) of the Florida Constitution, grants this Court jurisdiction to review by certiorari a decision of a district court of appeal that "is in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same point of law." It has been frequently said that this constitutional revision made the courts of appeal final appellate courts. See, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Lake v. Lake</u>, Fla. 1958, 103 So.2d 639; <u>South Florida</u> <u>Hospital Corporation v. McCrea</u>, Fla.1960, 118 So.2d 25. And the certiorari jurisdiction preserved to this Court under

- 6 -

Article V does not grant an appeal of right from decisions of the district courts. <u>Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company</u> <u>v. Branham</u>, Fla.1958, 104 So.2d 356, 358; <u>Karlin v. City</u> of Miami Beach, Fla.1959, 113 So.2d 551,553.

This Court has announced, in accepting "conflict certiorari" jurisdiction, that it is concerned primarily with the decision of a court of appeal as precedent, rather than in determining the rights of the particular litigants. This is so because this jurisdiction is aimed and directed toward obtaining uniformity in the case law and obviating confusion in the decisions of the various appellate courts of this state. This Court is the supreme arbiter, whose primary function in this area of "conflict certiorari" jurisdiction is that of maintaining uniformity of principle and harmony in the case precedence of this state. Ansin v. Thurston, Fla.1958, 101 So.2d 808; Seaboard Air Line Railroad Company v. Branham, supra; Board of Commissioners of State Institutions v. Tallahassee B. & T. Co., Fla. 1959, 116 So. 2d The Ansin case, supra, establishes that this Court is 762. concerned with the removal of real and embarrassing conflicts of opinion by which contrary decisions confuse the body of

- 7 -

precedent and case law in this state.

It is incumbent upon petitioners to establish this Court's jurisdiction by demonstrating a "direct conflict" between the decision of the Third District herein and other decisions. The test for determining the presence or absence of prerequisite conflict was succinctly stated in <u>Florida Power & Light Co. v. Bell</u>, Fla.1959, 113 So.2d 697,698:

> "* * * In order to find * * * conflict * * * it must be shown that the allegedly conflicting cases are 'in all fours' factually in all material respects."

In Kyle v. Kyle, Fla. 1962, 139 So. 2d 885, 887,

this Court added:

"If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, then no conflict can arise."

And in <u>Withlacoochee River Electric Coop.</u>,

Inc. v. Tampa Elec. Co., Fla. 1963, 158 So. 2d 136, 137,

this Court said:

"We have decided time and time again that this Court will not re-weigh or re-evaluate the testimony in order to determine its jurisdiction when it is sought to be invoked upon the theory of conflict in decisions. ..."

- 8 -

There was a voluminous record before the Third District of over 1,500 pages of testimony taken on four trial days, as well as various pleadings and orders. The "record" attached to the petition herein contains only a copy of the decision below, the respondent's brief in the court below, and the petition for and order denying rehearing. The pleadings, the transcript of testimony, and the record of the decisions made by the trial judge during the course of the trial are all conspicuous by their absence, and as a result the statement of facts set forth in the petition are not only unsupported by the record furnished but are wholly incomplete. The decision of the Third District obviously turned in large measure upon a consideration of the entire record; and, petitioners have failed to show that the Third District decided any particular point of law adversely to them on facts anywhere similar to those in the cases which they have cited, much less that the decision below is in direct conflict with any prior decision of this Court.

Rule 4.5(c)(6) of the Florida Appellate Rules requires that " * * * so much of the record as shall be

- 9 -

necessary to show jurisdiction in the Supreme Court shall be attached to or filed with the petition * * *." Thus, even though a petitioner may go beyond the decision of the district court of appeal and into the record proper, the alleged conflict must appear from the record brought before this Court as opposed to the petition itself, and it is mandatory under the rules that the portions of the record necessary to show the conflict must be attached to or filed with the petition.

The petition in the instant case is jurisdictionally and fatally defective as a result of the petitioners' failure to comply with the clear and mandatory requirements of Rule 4.5(c)(6) and certiorari should be dismissed for that reason alone. See, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Ex parte Jones</u>, 92 Fla. 1015, 110 So. 532 (1926); <u>Aris v. State</u>, Fla.App. 1st Dist. 1964, 162 So.2d 760; <u>McKenzie v. Board of Public Instruction of</u> <u>Dade County</u>, Fla.App. 3rd Dist.1966, 188 So.2d 683, in each of which a petition for certiorari was dismissed for failure of the petitioner to supply a sufficient record in support of his application for the writ.

- 10 -

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT REVERSED ON THE BASIS OF AN ERROR OF THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY ASSIGNED AND BRIEFED.

Under this point petitioners question the propriety of the District Court's reversing a post-trial order, on the basis that the validity of said order, although assigned by respondent as error, was never argued in respondent's brief and accordingly was abandoned. Petitioners suggest a conflict with <u>Redditt</u> <u>v. State</u>, Fla.1955, 84 So.2d 317, which simply holds that an appellate court will not reverse except on assignments of error that have been argued in the brief.

This argument is specious because the error assigned, argued and upon which the District Court reversed was the action of the trial judge, during the trial, in allowing the joinder of Jefferson as a party.

In its recitation of facts (208 So.2d 111-112), the District Court correctly observed that after Realty Corporations had rested their case and after U. S. Rubber had rested its case, Realty Corporations moved for leave to

- 11 -

add Jefferson as a party plaintiff, which motion was granted over the objection of U. S. Rubber. By its holding, of reversal, the District Court decided that the trial court erred by permitting Jefferson to enter the litigation on the last day of testimony and by permitting it to go to the jury as a party plaintiff, the error being the obvious adjudication of U. S. Rubber's liability to Jefferson without any hearing on that issue as between those parties. The District Court simply did not, as is hypothesized by petitioners, reverse any post-trial order. This is perfectly plain and clear from the opinion of the District Court.

The error of the trial court occurred prior to the entry of judgment, and was an error of law committed during trial. A gratuitous post-trial order could hardly have the effect of justifying or correcting an error of law committed during the course of the trial. Furthermore, it is completely unnecessary to the appellate review of such an error of law for the aggrieved party to move for a new trial. Judge Vann's order during the course of the trial adding Jefferson as a party was a question of law that he decided, just the same as a trial judge directing a verdict

- 12 -

on the basis of the legal insufficiency of the evidence. No post-trial motion to such an order is needed to present the point for appellate review. The First District, speaking through Justice Thornal, in <u>Furr v. Gulf Exhibition</u> <u>Corporation</u>, Fla.1959, 114 So.2d 27,29 stated:

> "We, therefore, conclude that the ruling of a trial judge directing a verdict for a defendant on the ground of the legal insufficiency of the evidence presented by the plaintiff is reviewable by an appellate court as a matter of law without the necessity of the presentation and disposition of a motion for a new trial by the offended party."

Additionally, in 6A, Moore's Federal Practice, ¶59.14 (2d Ed.1966), it is said:

"A motion for a new trial is not essential to save objections, made prior to and during the trial, for appellate review; * * * The important matter to be observed by the parties is that proper and seasonable objection be taken to * * * joinder or non-joinder of parties, and summarily, during the trial to alleged error, usually done by way of immediate objection, * * * Once a proper objection is made, the court and adverse parties are thereby notified of the alleged error, and there is no further requirement to renew these objections on a motion for new trial in order to preserve them for the purpose of appeal."

- 13 -

It accordingly was completely unnecessary for the respondent to argue and for the District Court to consider the propriety of the post-trial order, the judicial act in question having occurred during the course of the trial. That judicial act indeed was assigned as error by U. S. Rubber and argued at length in its brief. (R. 18-20) It is manifest then, not only from the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, but as a matter of law, that the post-trial order assailed under this point was neither the subject of the District Court opinion nor was the validity thereof a necessary subject for argument.

The holding of <u>Redditt v. State</u>, supra, is patently inapplicable to the facts of this case and no conflict is present. Moreover, that case suggests that petitioner's remedy in the District Court was a motion to strike U. S. Rubber's Brief or dismiss the appeal, or limit the issues on appeal. No such step was taken by Jefferson. Even if Jefferson's argument had technical merit (which it does not), the constitutionally protected right to appeal should not be limited in the absence of a showing of prejudice by Jefferson. <u>Greyhound Corporation v. Causewell</u>, Fla.1966, 181 So.2d 638. Jefferson understood the joinder

- 14 -

argument in full, met it head on and even quoted the posttrial order in its brief in response to U. S. Rubber's argument. Jefferson lost and now seeks, but should not be allowed, a review of that decision on its merits without a showing of direct conflict.

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY, WITHOUT CONFLICT, HELD THAT THE JOINDER OF A NEW PARTY PLAINTIFF AFTER ALL ORIGINAL PARTIES HAD RESTED DURING THE TRIAL OF THE CAUSE WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The facts before the District Court which impelled it to conclude reversible error by permitting Jefferson to enter the case as a party plaintiff at the conclusion of the trial were these. This action was commenced and prosecuted by the three Realty Corporations for some eighteen months. These corporations and U. S. Rubber are the parties to and which had signed the "lease agreements". Discovery was conducted on the assumption that the issues were those made by the pleadings of these parties. Cross-motions for summary judgment were filed by these parties and the orders thereon related only to them. The case went to trial on the sole issue of damages, with only these parties participating therein.

- 15 -

During the trial it became clear to the Realty Corporations that they had proven no damages whatsoever to themselves, that the damages if any from the defendant's alleged breach of the "lease agreements" related to a nonparty to the cause, Jefferson. At the conclusion of plaintiff's case Realty Corporations moved "to conform to the evidence in the case" and to amend their Second Amended Complaint by adding Jefferson as a party plaintiff. U. S. Rubber immediately objected on the grounds that the amendment came too late in the cause, Realty Corporations having concluded their case, all discovery having been completed, and Jefferson having no privity with U. S. Rubber. The Court reserved decision. (R. 481-483)

At the conclusion of all the testimony, both parties having rested, the question of amendment to add Jefferson as a party plaintiff was again raised by Realty Corporations. For the first time they contended that Jefferson was the "real party in interest" (R. 780). The Court then granted the motion and permitted Jefferson to enter the case. (R. 784)

At this point U. S. Rubber moved "for a continuance and for leave to file pleadings to the amended

- 16 -

complaint", stating that introduction of Jefferson into the case changed the subject matter of litigation and the principles of law involved, and was prejudicial and surprising. (R. 782-784) The impact of the addition of Jefferson into the litigation is clearly apparent from the verdict which absolved U. S. Rubber insofar as the three Realty Corporations were concerned, finding they had suffered no damages, but granted Jefferson a recovery of \$400,000.00.

U. S. Rubber contended in the District Court and the District Court agreed that Jefferson, a stranger to the agreements, was not entitled to join as a party plaintiff during the trial since U. S. Rubber's liability to Jefferson had never been adjudicated; no issues had been made and no proof adduced that U. S. Rubber owed any legal duty to Jefferson. Likewise, there was no issue before the trial court nor any evidence to substantiate the proposition that Jefferson was a real party in interest or entitled to join in the cause and obtain a summary judgment at the conclusion of the trial.

Jefferson now argues that it was necessarily always clear to the parties and to the trial judge that it was the "real party in interest" to the agreements between

- 17 -

Realty Corporations and U. S. Rubber. In view of the fact that no such issue was raised by the pleadings and U.S. Rubber was afforded no opportunity to plead, discover or offer evidence on the new issues of law and fact, it was far too late for Jefferson to develop this fine-spun theory after the verdict and judgment. While U. S. Rubber had notice, a hearing, and opportunity to be heard with respect to a cause of action allegedly possessed by Realty Corporations, it had no notice of any cause of action against it by Jefferson and it was afforded no opportunity to defend the claim asserted by Jefferson. Nevertheless, the jury was permitted to return a verdict for money damages in favor of Jefferson, the eleventh-hour stranger to the suit. The District Court held in accord with governing law that such a result cannot survive the basic and rudimentary test of procedural due process.

In its certiorari petition Jefferson argues that it in fact proved at trial that it was the real party in interest. That portion of the record, however, was neither suggested nor submitted by Jefferson. Moreover, the question

- 18 -

is <u>not</u> whether Jefferson proved its status, but indeed is whether the trial court correctly adjudicated U. S. Rubber's liability on an issue which was not raised by any pleadings and of which U. S. Rubber had no notice and no opportunity to respond. The trial judge and Jefferson could not by post-trial fiat resolve issues that were not even before the Court during the trial. Nothing in the cases cited by the petitioners is to the contrary.

The cases on which petitioners have relied in an attempt to demonstrate "conflict certiorari" jurisdiction are factually distinguishable, and hence cannot conflict with the decision sub judice. In <u>Robert L. Weed Architect, Inc.</u> <u>v. Horning</u>, Fla.1947, 33 So.2d 648, a licensed architect was the sole stockholder of a corporation which had contracted to provide architectural services. That corporation sued to foreclose an architect's lien. This Court held that the corporation could not practice architecture but that it was the alter ego of Weed and the medium through which his business as an architect was transacted. Moreover, the complaint therein expressly alleged that Weed individually performed the services, was licensed and that the corporate

- 19 -

contract was for his benefit. Throughout the transaction both parties recognized the corporation as a mere nominal That complaint clearly alleged a third party party. beneficiary contract and the course of business between the parties as a practical matter disregarded the corporation. Here, the Realty Corporations were viable, were the lessees of the property and in turn contracted to sublet premises to U.S. Rubber. In the Weed case the other contracting party did not care with whom he was dealing; the stockholder and the corporation were completely interchangeable. But here, there is no pleading or evidence to indicate that U. S. Rubber was not in any way concerned with whom it was dealing. To the contrary, U. S. Rubber dealt by express written contracts \downarrow with Realty Corporations and additionally insisted on separate written guaranties from Jefferson. In the Weed case a period of time passed and the practical operation under the contract was that the parties ignored the corporate entity. Here the agreements to lease never became effective and there was no operation by the parties under a contract. And finally, the record here that was

- 20 -

before the District Court in no way justifies the conclusion that U. S. Rubber was not harmed by the eleventhhour joinder. There is no possible basis for any estoppel against U. S. Rubber from insisting that Jefferson honor the independent existence of the Realty Corporations.

Petitioners' reliance on <u>Miracle House</u> <u>Corporation v. Haige</u>, Fla.1957, 96 So.2d 417 is equally misplaced. We readily concede that the rules allow liberal joinder of parties; but this precept cannot justify the trial judge's allowing a new party plaintiff to join at the conclusion of the trial without any pleadings, factual predicate in the record and without the defendant ever having had a chance to discover or offer evidence as to its right to be in the case. Moreover that case holds only that it is proper to permit intervention in a case involving a contest as to the rights to real property where the intervenor had a contract to purchase the property executed by only one of the other parties.

The case of <u>First National Bank v. Perkins</u>, 81 Fla. 341, 87 So. 912 (1921) is not in point on its facts as in that case this court held that an alleged third party

- 21 -

beneficiary could not recover, noting that to be a third party beneficiary it must appear that there was a clear intent that the third party shall be benefitted. In the instant case no such issue was ever made by the pleadings, and no opportunity was ever given to discover or adduce evidence at trial as to Jefferson's status as a possible third party beneficiary of U. S. Rubber's contracts with Realty Corporations.

Finally, petitioners rely upon a concurring opinion in <u>McCord v. Lee</u>, 127 Fla.65, 172 So. 853 (1937). The facts in that case are completely different from the facts of the instant case. In addition, a concurring opinion is not a "decision" sufficient to confer "conflict" jurisdiction; that case was affirmed by an equally divided court, and this court has squarely held that such a result is not the type of "decision" which can be relied upon as a precedent or which creates "conflict certiorari" jurisdiction. <u>Rainsford v. McArthur Dairies</u>, Fla.1959, 114 So.2d 617.

There is no need to discuss those cases cited by petitioners, which were decided by the Third District

- 22 -

or the Federal Courts as conflict jurisdiction is constitutionally limited to cases when the decision of the District Court sought to be reviewed is alleged to be in conflict with decisions of this court or another district court. <u>Shaw v. Puleo</u>, Fla.1964, 159 So.2d 641.

The facts as set forth by the District Court of Appeal peculiarly bring this cause within the rule stated in <u>Weston v. Nathanson</u>, Fla.1964, 173 So.2d 451, 452:

> "The decision of the District Court of Appeal reveals that, within the limits of its authority, that court differed with the chancellor regarding a problem involving the exercise of a sound judicial discretion. Our jurisdiction will not be determined merely on a basis of whether our view on the merits is in accord or in disagreement with the view of the District Court of Appeal. ..."

The petitioners have demonstrated no direct conflict in the decisions relating to joinder of parties.

- 23 -

POINT IV.

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED, WITHOUT CONFLICT, THAT DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF AN AGREEMENT TO LEASE REQUIRE, BUT IN THIS CASE WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE OF ACTUAL RENTAL VALUE.

The settled rule of the measure of damages recoverable for a lessee's breach of an agreement to lease is the excess, if any, of the agreed rent over the actual rental value of the premises, together with such special damages as the plaintiff may plead and prove. 32 Am.Jur. Landlord & Tenant, Sec. 33. The Florida cases have long agreed. See <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hodges v. Fries</u>, 34 Fla. 63, 15 So. 682 (1894); <u>Leslie E. Brooks Co. v. Long</u>, 67 Fla.68, 64 So. 452 (1914), <u>Lanzalotti v. Cohen</u>, Fla.1959, 113 So.2d 727; <u>Brewer</u> <u>v. North Gate of Orlando, Inc.</u>, Fla.1962, 143 So.2d 358.

This is the rule which was recognized by the District Court of Appeal. The Petitioners choose to split hairs by contending that the proper measure of damage is not the difference between the stipulated rent and the "fair rental value" but the difference between the stipulated rent and the "value of the use of the premises". The recent Florida cases use the expression "rental value" but it makes

- 24 -

no difference which phrase is used because the cases are completely clear that "rental value" and "value of the use" are completely synonymous for the purposes of the instant case. See cases cited in 36A. <u>Words and Phrases</u>, 691 (1962) and 44 <u>Words and Phrases</u>, 110 (1962).

The District Court recognized that Realty Corporations did not prove their case as far as rental damages were concerned because the record was completely devoid of any evidence bearing directly or indirectly on the fair rental value of the premises. Without such evidence, it was simply impossible for the jury to determine the correct measure of damage.

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